RECEIVED

10-22-2018

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2018AP001455

In the Matter of the Refusal of Danny L. Waters: STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DANNY L. WATERS,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A FINDING THAT THE DEFENDANT UNLAWFULLY REFUSED AN IMPLIED CONSENT TEST, ENTERED IN THE LA CROSSE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT CASE 18-TR-201, THE HONORABLE SCOTT L. HORNE, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

TODD E. SCHROEDER State Bar # 1048514 Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

BELZER, SCHROEDER & LOUGH, S.C.300 North 2nd Street, Suite 200La Crosse, WI 54601

(608) 784-8055

ISSUES PRESENTED

Did probable cause exist to arrest the Defendant-Appellant, Mr. Waters for Operating While Intoxicated and to request a blood test? The trial court found that there was probable cause to arrest Mr. Waters.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The appellant does not request oral argument as the briefs of the parties should sufficiently address the issues.

Publication is unnecessary as the issue involves an application of settled law to an isolated set of facts.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant, Mr. Waters, appeals an order finding that he unlawfully refused a blood test under Wisconsin's implied consent statute, Wis. Stat. § $343.305(9)^1$.

On January 14th, 2018, Mr. Waters was issued a notice of intent to revoke his operating privileges (App. 28) (1). He timely filed a request for a refusal hearing (App. 30) (2), which was held on July 20th, 2018 (App. 1) (17:1). The only witness called at the hearing, Deputy Daniel Welsch, testified that he went into Mr. Waters home (App. 16) (17:16) at approximately twelve o'clock in the morning to question him about drinking (App. 15) (17:15).

The defendant argued that the Officer did not have the requisite level of suspicion to warrant entering and conducting an investigation at the defendant's home at midnight (App. 23) (17:23). The trial court found that it was "a close call" but that the state established probable cause for the defendant's arrest (App. 24-25) (17:24-25).

 $^{^{1}}$ Unless specified, all statutory references are to the 2015-2016 Wisconsin Statutes.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Deputy Daniel Welsch testified that he responded to the Red Pines Bar to investigate a traffic accident. The call came in at around 11:00 p.m. (App. 16) (17:16). He spoke with one of the drivers, Karah Mitchell. Deputy Welsch testified: "[Ms. Mitchell] said she was turning to go out of the – it's a T shaped parking lot and she was turning right out of one leg of the T and another – and [Mr. Water's] vehicle was going straight on the other leg of the T. And while she turned he ran into her, I believe" (App. 13) (17:13). Ms. Mitchell told Deputy Welsch she was an employee of Red Pines (App. 5) (17:5). She identified the other driver as Danny Waters, the defendant, and provided his license plate number (App. 5-6) (17:5-6).

There was no evidence entered as to what if any damage either of the vehicles sustained. Ms. Mitchell told Deputy Welsch that she and Mr. Waters exchanged information and agreed to "work it out in the morning" (App. 13) (17:13).

Deputy Welsch recalled that although Ms. Mitchell indicated that she had seen Mr. Waters drinking in the bar, she said nothing about Mr. Waters's demeanor that would suggest impairment: no balance issues, slurred speech or that he appeared in any way intoxicated (App. 14) (17:14). A bartender told Deputy Welsch he believed Mr. Waters was in the bar for two and a half to three hours, but he didn't know what Mr. Waters had to drink and offered no indicators that Mr. Waters was intoxicated (App. 14-15) (17:14-15).

At the time of the accident, it was snowy and "definitely winter," according to Deputy Welsch (App. 14) (17:14). Deputy Welsch admitted that besides the fact there was an accident, there was nothing about the accident that

would suggest Mr. Waters was impaired (App. 15) (17:15). Deputy Welsch admitted that Mr. Waters exchanged information and did not attempt to leave the scene of the accident undetected (App. 15) (17:15).

Deputy Welsch then drove to Mr. Waters' residence and entered his home at approximately midnight, which he recalled as about an hour after the call (App. 15) (17:15). Other than saying, "Danny," when asked who "greeted" him at the residence (App. 6) (17:6), there was no testimony or evidence suggesting that anyone gave Deputy Welsch consent to enter the Waters' home. There was also no testimony establishing the circumstances under which law enforcement gained entry into the home. Deputy Welsch testified that he was wearing a recording device, but stated, "it appears it wasn't functioning during my contact with Danny" (App. 16) (17:16). Deputy Welsch questioned Mr. Waters about the accident and administered standardized field sobriety tests to Mr. Waters inside his home (App. 17-18) (17:17-18). He then placed Mr. Waters under arrest for operating while intoxicated (App. 11-12) (17:11-12). Deputy Welsch issued a Notice of Intent to Revoke Mr. Waters' license (App. 29-30) (1) and Mr. Waters requested a refusal hearing (App. 30) (2).

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THERE WAS PROBABLE CAUSE TO ARREST MR. WATERS FOR OPERATING WHILE INTOXICATED

In order to revoke a driver's license under the implied consent law, the court must find that the officer had probable cause to believe the person was driving or operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of alcohol..." Wis. Stat. § 343.305(9)(a)5.a; *see also State v. Nordness*, 128 Wis.2d 15, 35, 381 N.W.2d 300 (1986). "'Under the influence of an intoxicant' means that the defendant's ability to operate a vehicle was impaired because of consumption of an alcoholic beverage." Wis. JI—CRIMINAL 2663. "Not every person who has consumed alcoholic beverages is 'under the influence'... What must be established is that the person consumed a sufficient amount of alcohol to cause the person to be less able to exercise the clear judgment and steady hand necessary to handle and control a motor vehicle." *Id.*

At a refusal hearing the defense may also challenge the arrest on the basis of a constitutional violation occurring prior to the instance of arrest. *In re Refusal of Anagnos*, 2012 WI 64, ¶ 42, 341 Wis.2d 576, 815 N.W.2d 675 (2012).

As will be discussed below, in this case the arresting officer's investigation at the scene of the accident did not establish probable cause to arrest Mr. Waters for operating while intoxicated or to enter his home and investigate whether he was intoxicated. The subsequent arrest, excluding information gained from the unlawful home investigation, was without probable cause.

a. Standard of Review

Whether there was probable cause to arrest is a question of constitutional fact. The trial court's factual findings are subject to the clearly erroneous standard, but the application of those findings to constitutional principles are subject to de novo review. *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60, \P 8, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634 (2007).

b. The Investigation at the Scene of the Accident Did Not Establish Probable Cause to Believe Mr. Waters Committed a Crime or Traffic Violation.

At the scene of the accident, Deputy Welsch established: (1) Mr. Waters was involved in a traffic accident (App. 6) (17:6); (2) that he had consumed some alcohol while at a bar for two and a half to three hours (App. 14)(17:14); and (3) that after the parties exchanged information Mr. Waters left the scene (App. 13) (17:13).

Evidence of consumption of alcohol even in conjunction with a traffic accident does not yield probable cause to arrest. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has stated "unexplained erratic driving, the odor of alcohol, and the coincidental time of the incident form the basis for a reasonable suspicion but should not, in the absence of a field sobriety test, constitute probable cause to arrest..." *State v. Swanson*, 164 Wis. 2d 437, 453 n. 6, 475 N.W. 2d 148 (1991)(citing *State v. Seibel*, 163 Wis.2d 164, 183 (1991)).

Courts have qualified *Swanson* as not requiring field sobriety tests in all arrests, but not to the extent that an accident and evidence of consumption alone constitute probable cause. *See, i.e., State v. Kasian,* 207 Wis.2d 611, 622, 558 N.W.2d 687 (Ct. App. 1996) (driving into a telephone pole, the strong odor of intoxicants and slurred speech established probable cause); *State v. Babbitt,* 188 Wis.2d 349, 359, 525 N.W.2d 102 (Ct. App. 1994)(report of erratic driving, officer's observation of crossing a center line multiple times, odor of alcohol, glassy bloodshot eyes, poor balance and uncharacteristic uncooperative attitude establish probable cause); *State v. Wille,* 185 Wis.2d 673, 684, 518 N.W.2d 325 (Ct. App. 1994)(hitting a car parked off the highway, the odor of intoxicants and saying "I've got to quit doing this" established probable cause).

Despite the traffic collision in the case at hand there were other facts the trial court recognized that mitigated probable cause (App. 24) (17: 24). After the collision, Mr. Waters stopped and exchanged information with the other driver (App. 15) (17:15). The other driver who interacted with Mr. Waters spoke with Deputy Welsch and did not report any indicators that Mr. Waters appeared intoxicated, such as slurred speech, glassy eyes or poor balance. (App. 14) (17:14). A bartender said he was aware that Mr. Waters was in the bar for two and a half to three hours, but he did not report any belief or indication that Mr. Waters was drinking excessively or that he in any way appeared intoxicated. (App. 15) (17: 15). Deputy Welsch admitted that there was nothing specific about the accident that would suggest Mr. Waters was impaired (App. 15) (17:15). Therefore, at the conclusion of Deputy Welsch's investigation at the scene he did not have probable cause to believe Mr. Waters was operating while intoxicated.

Because Mr. Waters stopped at the scene and exchanged information with the other driver, there was no probable cause to believe he had illegally left the scene of an accident. When striking an attended vehicle, a driver has a duty to investigate what was struck, determine if there is any injury and provide certain information. Wis. Stat. § 346.67(1). There was no testimony at the hearing to suggest that Deputy Welsch suspected that Mr. Waters was in violation of this statute. Rather he indicated that Mr. Waters conversed with the other driver and exchanged information (App. 14) (17:14). Accidents resulting in injury, over \$200 in damage to government property or over \$1,000 in damage to any property owned by any one person must be immediately reported to law enforcement. Wis. Stat. § 346.70. There was no evidence at the hearing, however, to raise probable cause to believe that this was an accident that required immediate reporting. Deputy Welsch did not testify that he suspected that Mr. Waters violated these or any other laws at the time that he proceeded to Mr. Water's home at midnight.

| c. | Law | Enforcem | ent Lack | ked a | | |
|----|---------------------------------------|------------|-----------|--------|--|--|
| | Const | titutional | Basis | to | | |
| | Subse | equently | Enter | Mr. | | |
| | Wate | rs' Home | at Midnig | ght to | | |
| | Conduct Further Investigation. | | | | | |

Despite lacking probable cause to believe Mr. Waters had committed a crime or traffic violation, Deputy Welsch and at least one other officer entered Mr. Waters' home at midnight (App. 16) (17:16), and while inside questioned Mr. Waters (App. 16) (17:16), administered field sobriety tests (App. 17) (17:17) and arrested him (App. 12) (17:12).

"Warrantless searches are per se unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment subject to certain exceptions that are 'jealously and carefully drawn.' ... The government bears the burden of proving that a warrantless search falls within one of the narrowly drawn exceptions." *State v. Payano-Roman,* 2006 WI 47, ¶ 30, 290 Wis. 2d 380, 714 N.W.2d 548 (2006). "It is axiomatic that the 'physical entry of the home is the chief evil against which the wording of the Fourth Amendment is directed." *Welsh v. Wisconsin,* 466 U.S. 740, 748, 104 S. Ct. 2091 (1984) (citations omitted).

In order to enter a home without a warrant, police need either probable cause and exigent circumstances or consent. *State v. Rodgers*, 119 Wis.2d 102, 107, 349 N.W.2d 453 (1984). Law enforcement can ask for permission to enter a residence without probable cause or even reasonable suspicion. *State v. Stout,* 2002 WI App 41, \P 18, 250 Wis.2d 768, 641 N.W.2d 474 (2002). However, the request for permission, referred to a "knock and talk," must not cross the line into a situation of constructive entry that has "lost its consensual nature." *City of Sheboygan v. Cesar*, 2010 WI App 170, \P 13, 330 Wis. 2d 760, 796 N.W.2d 429 (Ct. App. 2010).

Courts evaluate the totality of circumstances to determine whether law enforcement seeking entry into the home constitutes an unreasonable seizure under the 4th Amendment. United States v. Jerez, 108 F.3d 684, 690 (7th Cir. 1997). Of particular importance is whether the knocking occurred in the middle of the night: "because our law and legal traditions long have recognized the special vulnerability of those awakened in the night by a police intrusion at their dwelling place, our Fourth Amendment jurisprudence counsels that, when a knock at the door comes in the dead of night, the nature and effect of the intrusion into the privacy of the dwelling place must be examined with the greatest of caution." Id. at 690. The court held that due to the midnight hour, just minutes of knocking on the door and window by the officers, couples with shining a flashlight and "commands" and requests to open the door" constituted a warrantless home entry. Id. at 692-693.

Likewise, the 10th Circuit Court of Appeals held that opening the door to law enforcement constitutes a seizure if not done voluntarily. *United States v. Reeves*, 524 F.3d 1161, 1168 (Ct. App. 2008). Opening the door is involuntary under the totality of circumstances if a reasonable person would not feel free to ignore the officers. *Id.* at 1168 (citing *United States v. Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. 544, 554, 100 S. Ct. 1870 (1980)). The court held that three officers pounding on Reeves' door and window for at least twenty minutes while identifying themselves as officers was a constructive seizure despite never demanding that the occupant open the door. *Reeves*, 524 F.3d *at* 1168-69.

Distinguishing *Reeves* and *Jerez*, the Wisconsin 2^{nd} District Court of Appeals held that a "knock and talk" is not overly intrusive where (1) the officers arrived at approximately 10:00 p.m. and shortly after Cesar returned home; (2) "only two officers" attempted to make contact with Cesar; and (3) there were no commands by the officers. *City of Sheboygan v. Cesar*, 2010 WI App 170, ¶ 17, 330 Wis. 2d 760, 796 N.W.2d 429 (Ct. App. 2010).

In the case at hand, the undisputed testimony was that officers entered the defendant's home at midnight to investigate Mr. Waters. (App. 15) (17:15). There was no allegation that entry was with a warrant or with probable cause and exigent circumstances. Likewise, there were no details from which the court could infer that entry was consensual under the totality of circumstances, given the early morning hour or the nature of the efforts used by police to gain entry. The State, therefore, has not established that the entry was reasonable. Because the State has not met the burden of establishing that the warrantless entry of the home was justified, the defendant was not lawfully placed under arrest. Accordingly, he did not unlawfully refuse an implied consent test. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(9)(a)5.a. See, In re Refusal of Anagnos, 2012 WI 64, ¶ 42, 341 Wis.2d 576, 815 N.W.2d 675 (Wis. 2012).

CONCLUSION

For the above-stated reasons, the defendant-appellant respectfully requests that the trial court's order finding that he unlawfully refused an implied consent test be REVERSED.