RECEIVED

11-26-2018

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEAL OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2018AP001455

In the Matter of the Refusal of Danny L. Waters: STATE OF WISCONSIN,

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

V.

DANNY L. WATERS,

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT.

ON APPEAL FROM A FINDING THAT THE DEFENDANT UNLAWFULLY REFUSED AN IMPLIED CONSENT TEST, ENTERED IN THE LA CROSSE COUNTY CIRCUIT CASE 18-TR-201, THE HONORABLE SCOTT L. HORNE, PRESIDING

> BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

> > JOHN W. KELLIS Assistant District Attorney State Bar #1083400

Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

A. Introduction

Waters rests his challenge to the circuit court's finding of an unlawful refusal to submit to a chemical test not on the circuit court's examination of all the evidence considered in rendering its decision but rather on a newlydeveloped, two-part argument never presented to the circuit court.

Waters maintains first, based solely on the evidence gathered at the scene of the automobile crash, Deputy Welsch did not have probable cause to believe Waters was operating while intoxicated, and second, evidence gathered upon law enforcement locating and interviewing Waters at his home should apparently be excluded from consideration.

The State does not dispute that the information Deputy Welsch gained at the scene of the traffic crash alone was insufficient to support a probable cause that Waters was operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated.

However, as the State will explain, by failing to articulate with sufficient clarity his remaining claim of unlawful police conduct before the circuit court, Waters waived this argument, precluding appellate review.

> B. Waters' failure to assert a violation of his constitutional rights before the circuit court should bar such claim on appeal.

A circuit court may entertain claims at a refusal hearing that an arrest was unlawful due to unconstitutional seizure. In re Refusal of Anagnos, 2012 WI 64, 341 Wis.2d 576, 815 N.W.2d 675. However, "[f]or reasons of fairness and judicial economy, to preserve an issue for appeal, a party must ordinarily identify and present the issue clearly enough to permit the circuit court to address it and render a ruling." Marquez v. Herbeck, unpublished opinion, 2010AP552, ¶ 19 (Dist. IV, Sept. 1, 2011) (citing Village of Trempealeau v. Mikrut, 2004 WI 79, ¶ 15, 273 Wis.2d 76, 681 N.W.2d 190).

"It is a fundamental principle of appellate review that issues must be preserved at the circuit court. Issues that are not preserved at the circuit court, even alleged constitutional errors, generally will not be considered on appeal." *State v. Huebner*, 2000 WI 59, ¶ 10, 235 Wis.2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727. The circuit court convened a hearing pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 343.305(10)(a) solely based upon Waters filing a request for a refusal hearing (2; R-Ap. 101). Prior to the refusal hearing, Waters filed no written motion alleging violations of his constitutional rights, including, but not limited to, police entering his home.

At the commencement of the refusal hearing, Waters did not indicate any intent to challenge the legality of police contact with him at his home (16:3; R-Ap. 104). To the contrary, during Deputy Welsch's testimony, Waters' counsel interrupted witness questioning to further clarify the sole issue to be contested at the refusal hearing:

MR. SCHROEDER: And, Judge, Mr. Kellis can certainly go on, but we are limiting our challenge to the probable cause. We stipulate that there – the informing the accused was read and that Mr. Waters declined taking the test.

(16:12; R-Ap. 113).

By making this concession, Waters identified for the court and State the sole issue contested by Waters: whether Deputy Welsch had probable cause to believe Waters was a driving or operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of alcohol or with a prohibited alcohol concentration. *See* Wis. Stat. § 343.305(9)(a)(5)(a).

Conversely, Waters maintains, for the first time on appeal, that law enforcement lacked a constitutional basis to enter his home to conduct further investigation. Water's Br. at 8-10. Notably, Waters' new claim was so unarticulated and unexplored before the circuit court that neither the circuit court nor the State were even aware that Waters intended to advance such argument.

The scope of questioning of Deputy Welsch demonstrates that neither party intended the legality of Deputy Welsch's contact with Waters inside his home to be at issue:

MR. KELLIS: Using a license plate from the information that was provided to you, were you able to locate the vehicle that was involved in the crash?

DEPUTY WELSCH: Yes.

MR. KELLIS: Okay. And where was that, do you recall?

DEPUTY WELSCH: It was an address off North Shore Drive, I don't remember the exact fire number.

MR. KELLIS: Okay. And did you ultimately arrive on scene at that location?

DEPUTY WELSCH: Yes.

MR. KELLIS: Okay. Who was it that had greeted you at that residence?

DEPUTY WELSCH: Danny.

MR. KELLIS: Is that Danny Waters?

DEPUTY WELSCH: Yes.

(16:6; R-Ap. 107).

MR. SCHROEDER: How long was it before you arrived at Mr. Waters' home?

DEPUTY WELSCH: From the time of the accident or --

MR. SCHROEDER: Yeah, from the time of the . . . I guess the initial response to the scene of the accident.

DEPUTY WELSCH: If memory serves, I arrived at his house at about twelve o-clock in the morning. Right around there. And I believe the initial call would have been around 11.

MR. SCHROEDER: So about an hour later.

DEPUTY WELSCH: Yeah.

MR. SCHROEDER: And you were – you were – you have a microphone on your – on your person. Right?

DEPUTY WELSCH: I do, but it appears it wasn't functioning during the contact with Danny.

MR. SCHROEDER: And do you know why not?

DEPUTY WELSCH: I don't.

MR. SCHROEDER: Do you know when it became dysfunctional?

DEPUTY WELSCH: I do not; it was right at the start of my shift, so.

MR. SCHROEDER: And you went into Mr. Waters' home?

DEPUTY WELSCH: Yes.

MR. SCHROEDER: And you asked him some questions about drinking?

DEPUTY WELSCH: I did.

MR. SCHROEDER: So describe that conversation, if you would.

(16:15-16; R-Ap. 116-17).

At the conclusion of the refusal hearing, once all evidence had been presented, the court invited argument from both parties concerning the issue(s) to be decided by the court (16:22; R-Ap. 123). Given Waters' concession that the sole issue to be addressed by the court was whether Deputy Welsch had probable cause to believe Waters was operating while intoxicated, the State tailored its argument to the court concerning that lone issue:

MR. KELLIS: Your Honor, I'd ask that you find the refusal to be unreasonable. The defense is stipulated to two of the three things the State need prove here today. The only being – the only one not being whether there was probable cause for an arrest.

(16:22; R-Ap. 123).

Waters' only argument as to why the court should not find his refusal to submit to a chemical test as unreasonable was stated as follows: MR. SCHROEDER: Yes, Judge. My argument would be that the officer had information that there was an accident, that Mr. Waters did provide the information, did not try to hide who he was or anything to that effect. Then the parties agreed to report the matter the following day. There was really no evidence or indication as to Mr. Waters being impaired, so I would simply argue that he didn't have the requisite level of suspicion to go to Mr. Waters' house at that hour and question him about the incident.

(16:23; R-Ap. 124).

The circuit court's ruling, too, revealed a lack of awareness that Waters intended to contest the constitutionality of Deputy Welsch's contact with Waters inside his residence. Upon hearing arguments from both counsel, the court made an oral ruling:

THE COURT: All right. I'm just first going to say to Mr. Waters I respect the fact that you had stopped and exchanged information –

THE DEFENDANT: Yeah, no –

THE COURT: -- with the other driver because too often that is not the case. It's an expectation, it's a requirement, it isn't always adhered to, particularly if individuals think they may be on the – on the line, so to speak.

THE DEFENDANT: Yeah.

THE COURT: So I respect the fact you made the decision to share that information.

To a certain extent, this is a close case. There are certainly factors that the defense can point to, including the acceptance of responsibility in terms of fulfilling the legal obligation, the fact that the other driver was aware that Mr. Waters had been drinking, apparently didn't' communicate anv personal observations regarding impairment, although there's no indication that the witness was questioned closely about that. However, the officer obviously had other information that Mr. Waters had been in the bar for about two and a half to three hours. There are the circumstances of the accident. This apparently is a slow speed accident where Mr. Waters had collided with another person in the parking lot after having consumed a significant amount of alcohol in the bar. The officer went to the residence, confirmed the amount. Mr. Waters had indicated that he had consumed six beers which certainly is a significant quantity. He confirmed that there was nothing that had been consumed after the accident, so other than the fact that the officer's contact was apparently an hour later, certainly the symptoms that the officer observed could not have been attributed to post-accident drinking.

The officer put the – Mr. Waters through the field sobriety tests. The HGN would certainly be indicative of impairment. There was indications in the walk and turn, apparently four clues out of eight, and then the third field test the results weren't that bad; apparently one clue out of the possible four. On the totality of the circumstances, the officer — and coupled with the rejection of the opportunity to submit a PBT – on the totality of the circumstances, the officer formed the opinion that Mr. Waters was impaired. As I say, it isn't as clear as many cases; but to a probable cause standard;, I think the officer did have sufficient basis for concluding that Mr. Waters was probably impaired and was justified in going through the informing the accused and asking Mr. Waters if he would submit to a test.

I'm going to make a finding that the officer had probable cause. And this is a two year revocation?

(16:23-26; R-Ap. 124-127).

The State maintains there is clear, distinguishable difference between a defendant's claim that police were not entitled to *travel to* his home to question him and a claim that police unconstitutionally *entered* his home to question him.

Due to Waters' failure to articulate this newlydeveloped claim to the circuit court with any clarity before or during the refusal hearing, neither counsel directed questions to Deputy Welsch to determine how he entered Waters' home, whether Waters or another individual invited police to enter Waters' home, whether police had secured a warrant to enter the home, or whether any other facts or circumstances permitted police to lawfully enter the home at that time.

While the exact circumstances were not described as to how Deputy Welsch entered the residence, Deputy Welsch confirmed it was Waters who "greeted" him at the residence (16:6; R-Ap. 107). Absent from the record is any indication that police forced entry into the home or otherwise entered the home without voluntary consent. Further, given the lack of clarity concerning Waters' claim(s), the circuit court never ruled on the legality of police entry to Waters' home. Instead, Waters now requests that this court for the first time address a claim that he could have brought before the circuit court but inexplicably failed to do so.

The waiver rule is "not merely a technicality or a rule of convenience; it is an essential principle of the orderly administration of justice." *Huebner*, 2000 WI 59, ¶ 11. The State maintains this principle should lead this court to find Waters has waived the claims he now makes on appeal and affirm the circuit court's decision.

Waters should not be entitled to limit the scope of the evidence supplied at the refusal hearing, concede the lone contested issue concerned whether Deputy Welsch had probable cause to believe he was operating while intoxicated, argue only that Deputy Welsch did not "have the requisite level of suspicion to go to his house at that hour and question him about the incident," and now advance a newly-developed argument on appeal relying on an incomplete evidentiary record.

Waters was entitled to assert before the circuit court that Deputy Welsch engaged in unlawful police conduct at his home, and as a result of his conduct, certain evidence gathered should have been excluded from the circuit court's consideration. Because he failed to so, Waters waived this claim and cannot logically establish that the circuit court erred by not considering claims he failed to clearly present. III. The circuit court correctly concluded Deputy Welsch's observations supported a probable to believe cause Waters was operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated.

A. Standard of Review

Whether probable cause to arrest exists in a given case is a question of law that appellate courts determine independently of the circuit court, but benefiting from its analysis. *Washburn County v. Smith*, 2008 WI 23, ¶ 16, 308 Wis.2d 65, 746 N.W.2d 243.

B. Deputy Welsch detected numerous indicators of impairment supporting probable cause to believe Waters was operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated.

Having heard the entirety of the evidence presented at the refusal hearing, the circuit court concluded Deputy Welsch had probable cause to believe Waters was operating while intoxicated (16:24-26; R-Ap. 125-27). The court had before it the following observations supporting its decision:

- Waters admitted to being involved in an automobile accident at a bar (16:16; R-Ap. 117);
- In exchanging information with the other driver involved in the automobile accident, Waters expressed interest in not wanting to

deal with police at the time (16:13, R-Ap. 114);

- A bartender was unable to recall precisely how much Waters was drinking but noted Waters had been at the bar for two and a half to three hours (16:14, R-Ap. 115);
- Deputy Welsch observed that Waters' speech was "a little bit slow and slurred" (16:7; R-Ap. 108);
- Deputy Welsch observed the "slight odor of intoxicant" emitting from Waters (16:7; R-Ap. 108);
- Waters admitted he had consumed about six beers that evening with none of those drinks being consumed subsequent to his arrival at home (16:7, 16; R-Ap. 108, 117);
- Deputy Welsch, a law enforcement officer trained at Northeast Technical College, administered standardized field sobriety tests with Waters exhibiting five of six possible clues of impairment during the Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus test, four of eight possible clues of impairment during the Walk-and-Turn test, and one of four possible clues of impairment during the One-Leg-Stand test (16:9-11; R-Ap. 110-12); and
- Waters refused to submit to a preliminary breath test upon request (16:11; R-Ap. 112). *County of Jefferson v. Renz*, 222 Wis.2d 424, 443 n. 17, 588 N.W.2d 267 (Ct. App. 1998) (refusal to submit to preliminary breath test

may be considered evidence of consciousness of guilt for purpose of establishing probable cause to arrest), *rev'd on other grounds*, 231 Wis.2d 293, 603 N.W.2d 541 (1999).

While the State does not concur with the circuit court's assessment that this was a "close case," the State respectfully agrees with the circuit court that Deputy Welsch's observations supported a probable cause that Waters was operating while intoxicated. This court should affirm that decision.

Finally, as Waters' Brief-in-Chief fails to address whether the cumulative evidence actually considered by the circuit court was insufficient to support a probable cause to believe Waters was operating while intoxicated, he should be precluded from raising any new arguments in his reply. *Olivarez v. Unitrin Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co.*, 2006 WI App 189, ¶34, 296 Wis. 2d 337, 723 N.W.2d 131 (arguments not fully developed in appellant's brief-in-chief afford the respondent no opportunity to respond, and will not be reviewed).

CONCLUSION

For the reasons explained above, the State respectfully requests that this court affirm the circuit court's finding of unlawful refusal.